THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY

RECEIVED

D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

FEB 18 2016

SC Court of Appeals

---

Appeal Number 2014-001391

DAVID WELLS WOODY

Appellant,

v.

State of South Carolina ... Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Rose Mary Parham  
Parham Law Firm, LLC  
541 West Evans Street  
Post Office Box 1514  
Florence, South Carolina 29501  
(843) 407-7757 (office)  
(843) 407-7757 (facsimile)  
[rosemaryparham@sc.rr.com](mailto:rosemaryparham@sc.rr.com)  
South Carolina Bar No. 17034

Attorney for Appellant Damon Moody

##

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- (1) Did the trial court err in precluding Moody from cross-examining alleged victim Jermichael Wright regarding his arrest for Assault and Battery and the deal he received from the State for Pretrial Intervention and dismissal of the charge?
- (2) Did the trial court err in refusing to permit Moody to cross-examine State's chief witness Tabitha Durant regarding (1) her arrest for Breach of Trust with Fraudulent Intent and Conspiracy to Commit Insurance Fraud; (2) the fact that Moody reported her crime to law enforcement; (3) the deal Durant received from the State for Pretrial Intervention and dismissal; and (4) Durant's husband's charge related to this case being dismissed?
- (3) Did the trial court err in preventing Moody from cross-examining Durant regarding her mental competence and prior commitment to a mental institution?
- (4) Did the trial court err in not finding Moody statutorily immune under the Defense of Persons and Property Act?
- (5) Did the trial court err in refusing to charge the jury on the common law defense of habitation?

## STATEMENT OF CASE

On July 12, 2013, Moody was arrested on three charges of Pointing and Presenting a Firearm at a Person and three charges of Assault and Battery Second Degree. Moody was later indicted for only the three counts of Pointing and Presenting a Firearm.

On June 16, 2014, Moody's jury was empaneled and pretrial motions were heard. After hearing testimony and arguments regarding Moody's pretrial motion to dismiss the Indictment based upon Moody's immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act, Judge Brown denied Moody's motion to dismiss, and the case proceeded before the jury.

On June 19, 2014, the jury convicted Moody of the two counts of Pointing and Presenting with regard to Jermaine and Jermichael Wright and acquitted Moody of the Pointing and Presenting charge as to Ontario McClellan. Judge Brown sentenced to Moody to five years confinement on each count suspended to two and three years probation, respectively, upon the service of 45 days per count, with said sentences to run consecutively.

Notice of Appeal was timely filed on June 25, 2014.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 13, 2013, the Defendant, Damon Moody (“Moody”), an off-duty Francis Marion Police Officer, was at his home, located at 1313 Gilbert Drive, in Florence, South Carolina. (R. p.189 line 10). Moody lived on the property with his wife and infant child. He and his wife had lived at their home for two years and shared the land with Moody’s mother-in-law, Tabitha Durant (“Durant”) (R. pp. 189-190), each having their own trailers on the property that were positioned in an “L” formation. (R. p. 190 lines 15-19). The land upon which Moody and Durant lived was owned and titled in the name of Durant’s father, John Head. (R. p. 453 line 8).

Moody had served as a law enforcement officer since 2008 and had previously received the Medal of Valor, the highest honor in law enforcement. (R. 219 lines 12-15). Moody owned and trained four Belgian Malinois for police organizations and kept them in outdoor pens next to his trailer. (R. pp. 191-192). These police dogs were a significant monetary and time investment for Moody. (R. p. 192 lines 2-4).

During the afternoon, Moody was awakened to a commotion outside. (R. p. 192 lines 5-9). Moody then let his indoor German Shepherds outside. As he let the German Shepherds back in, Moody noticed a pitbull barking, nipping at the kennels, and biting Moody’s Belgian Malinois through the front kennel. (R. pp. 192, 392, 423). The one year-old, male pitbull (R. p. 391, line 13) was owned by Jermichael Wright (“Jermichael”), fiancée to Moody’s sister-in-law and invited

guest of Durant. Moody had problems with the same pitbull more than five times previously. (R. pp. 192-193).

Moody yelled at the pitbull, but the pitbull continued to attack his Malinois. (R. p. 193 lines 18-21). At that point, Moody grabbed a .22 caliber handgun, walked outside, and fired it several times into the ground in front of the kennels to scare the pitbull away. (R. pp. 193, 393-394). Prior to this date, Moody had to fire a gun to chase away the same pitbull. (R. pp. 193-194).

Moody hollered for Jermichael to get his dog. (R. p. 194, line 18). Moody then placed his gun inside his home and walked over to speak with Jermichael about the pitbull still running around. Jermichael was standing on Durant's deck with brother, Jermaine Wright ("Jermaine"). Moody stated that Jermichael immediately became aggressive and that Jermaine knocked Moody off of Durant's deck. (R. pp. 196, 408-409, 438). The two brothers then proceeded to shove and "chest bump" Moody around the pool, through the yard, and back over towards Moody's dog kennels and trailer. (R. p. 197, lines 8-20)

Witnesses agree that Moody's dogs continued to bark, that it was extremely hot that day, and that the pitbull was still running around unrestrained. (R. p. 119, 392, 412, 418, 507). Moody then returned to his trailer, put a gun in his pocket, put a leash over his shoulder, and came back outside to tend to his overheated dogs. (R. p. 119, lines 1-21). As Moody retrieved "Sniper" from the kennel on the leash and walked toward the water hose (R. p. 199, lines 1-22), Jermichael yelled that if Moody came one step closer with his dog, he was going to put a

bullet between his (Moody's) eyes. Moody stated that Jermichael then made a furtive movement toward his waistband (R. p. 200, lines 3-13), prompting Moody to draw his gun, which had a laser sight, point it at Jermichael, and yell, "Hands, hands, hands, show me your hands!" (R. p. 200, lines 17-25). Moody stated that he was two feet from the 5x5 foot deck off his back door when he drew his gun. (R. p. 222, lines 11-25). Jermichael admitted that he had shown Moody his gun before and that Moody knew he had guns. (R. pp. 123, 401, 508).

Jermichael and Jermaine each recalled saying something to Moody as he retrieved "Sniper" from the kennel. Jermaine did not recall the details of what he said or what the Jermaine said. (R. pp. 121-122, 142, 415-416). Jermichael did not recall what Jermaine said but did recall asking what Moody was going to do with the dog. (R. pp. 121-122, 506).

Jermichael Wright then called 911. The Florence County Sheriff's Office and an officer with the South Carolina Department of Public Safety responded, interviewed witnesses, and filed reports. Jermaine and Jermichael's friend, Ontario McClellan, who was in Durant's above-ground pool, told law enforcement that Moody also pointed the gun and laser at him. Officers did not arrest Moody on June 13, 2013, but did arrest Durant's husband, who was on scene, for interfering with their investigation. (R. pp. 175, 258-259).

During the pretrial hearing Durant, one of the State's chief witnesses, admitted the following under oath: (1) that she had been committed to a mental institution (R. pp. 171, 262-263); (2) that in December 2013 she was arrested for

Breach of Trust with Fraudulent Intent and Conspiracy to File a False Insurance Claim (R. pp. 172-174, 254); (3) that she called the SLED agent on this case and let him know of her arrest (R. p. 175, lines 1-12); (4) that the State offered her PTI and an agreement to dismiss those charges (R. pp. 172-173); (5) that the State sent her a favorable letter regarding her PTI one week before this trial began (R. pp. 174, 256); and (6) that her husband's charges stemming from the date of this incident were later dismissed (R. pp. 175, 258). However, during the trial of the case, defense counsel was not permitted to cross-examine Durant pursuant to Rule 608(c) regarding any of these aforementioned issues. S.C.R.E. (R. pp. 252-256). Further, defense counsel was precluded from proffering testimony of Durant's daughter regarding her mother's mental status and/or competence. (R. pp. 265-266). Defense counsel was prohibited from cross-examining Durant about her knowledge of Moody tape-recording her and reporting her crimes to law enforcement. (R. pp. 269-272). Finally, defense counsel was also prohibited from cross-examining, or even inquiring into, Durant's conduct underlying her Breach of Trust and Conspiracy charges, both of which are offenses relating to truthfulness under Rule 608(b). SCRE. (R. pp. 227-229, 372, 374). Moody preserved the issues for appeal. (R. pp. 227-229, 269-272, 372, 521, 610).

Moody made similar objections with regard to Jermichael Wright. On October 30, 2013, Jermichael was arrested for Assault and Battery by the Florence County Sheriff's Office, and the victim was sent to the hospital. (R. pp. 251-252). The State gave Jermichael Pretrial Intervention and dismissed his charges.

Defense counsel was not permitted to cross-examine Jermichael as to his potential bias in favor of the State or explore his being the aggressor in the fight. Both issues were preserved for appeal. (R. pp. 521, 610).

The Attorney General's office argued that the dismissals and diversionary programs were not admissible to show bias because Jermichael, Durant, and Durant's husband were prosecuted by the 12<sup>th</sup> Circuit Solicitor's Office, and Moody's case, despite having originated in the 12<sup>th</sup> Circuit Solicitor's Office (R. p. 255), was being prosecuted by the Attorney General's Office. Defense counsel argued that all of the cases, including Moody's, originated in the 12<sup>th</sup> Circuit and that all charges were brought in the name of the State of South Carolina. (R. pp. 255-257). Counsel pointed out that the analysis should focus on the perspective of the particular witness being favorably treated and that the witness who had been charged by the State, was being favorably treated by the State, and was now testifying for the State. (R. pp. 257, 259).

Judge Brown accepted the State's argument and anchored his ruling on the fact that the conduct leading to the various charges against the various witnesses occurred after the witnesses made their original statements to law enforcement. All issues were preserved for appeal, and Moody was not allowed to cross-examine Jermichael or Durant as to these issues at trial. (R. pp. 252-257, 260, 265-266, 521, 610).

Finally, with regard to all three of the dismissals referenced above and despite *Brady* and *Giglio* motions filed in this case, Moody was not provided any

of the information or records pertaining to these arrests and dismissals until the day of jury selection, June 16, 2014. (R. pp. 252-253).

Despite having filed a pretrial motion requesting that the State provide anything in the testifying officers' personnel files that might have a bearing on truthfulness and raising the same issue before the Court pretrial, the trial court refused to request that the State check the testifying officers personnel files for any information that might have a bearing on their truthfulness. (R. pp. 268-269). Moody objected and preserved this issue for appeal (R. p. 269, lines 10-15).

During the pretrial hearings, Judge Brown declined to give Moody statutory immunity under the Defense of Persons and Property Act. (R. pp. 244-246). Judge Brown conceded that the "testimony of the defendant and the witnesses varied substantially." (R. pp. 243-244). Defense counsel argued that immunity under the Act would extend to a person in the curtilage of their home. (R. pp. 238, 285-286). In ruling, the Court failed to address curtilage stating that the "uncontroverted testimony elicited from this stand was that there was no attempt or no attack in a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle." (R. p. 244, lines 9-12).

The trial court also denied Moody's request to charge the jury on the defense of habitation and the common law Castle Doctrine. With regard to the defense of habitation, Moody cited *State v. Rye*, 375 S.C. 119, 651 S.E.2d 321 (2007) and *State v. Bradley*, 126 S.C. 528, 120 S.E. 240 (1923) and requested the following charge: "A person may use deadly force to protect his home. Thus, he may use deadly force to eject a trespasser who is in his house or in the area

immediately surrounding his house. For the defense of habitation to apply, a defendant need only establish that a trespass has occurred and that his chosen means of ejection were reasonable under the circumstances. Stated differently, unlike the defense of self-defense, the defense of habitation does not require that a defendant reasonably believe that he (or his property) was in imminent danger [of] sustaining serious injury or damage. Instead, the defense of habitation provides that where one attempts to force himself into another's dwelling, the law permits an owner to use reasonable force to expel the trespasser." (Tr. 590).

Moody also requested a charge that the absence of the duty to retreat extends to the curtilage of the home, which charge included a definition of a "curtilage." (R. pp. 644-645) All of the aforementioned charges were denied and preserved for appeal. (R. pp. 646-648).

### ARGUMENT

This entire case rests upon the credibility of only a few witnesses. Aside from the 911 tape and Moody's guns that were seized, there is no physical or circumstantial evidence in this case. For this reason, the trial court's repeated refusal to allow proper cross-examination of the State's witnesses constituted reversible error.

From the very beginning, Moody admitted to pointing his gun at Jermaine and Jermichael Wright. He stated that when he went to get his dog from the kennel, Jermichael stated, while reaching and making a furtive movement toward

his waistband, "If you come one step closer with that dog, I am going to put a bullet between your eyes." Moody, a trained police officer, reacted quickly, drawing his gun on Jermichael and yelling "Hands, hands, hands. Show me your hands!"

Jermichael and Jermaine do not dispute that Jermichael's pitbull was running uncontrolled around the yards. Jermichael and Jermaine do not dispute that it was hot and that Moody's dogs were clearly annoyed, barking, and jumping up on the kennels. Jermichael and Jermaine do not dispute that they argued and had a physical confrontation with Moody. Jermichael and Jermaine do not dispute that Moody came out of his trailer with his gun *in his pocket* and a leash over his shoulder. Jermaine and Jermichael do not dispute that Moody went to get his dog from the kennel. What Jermichael and Jermaine dispute are the next few seconds leading up to Moody drawing his gun and what, if anything, was said prior to that moment. Interestingly enough, each brother recalls words being said but are vague as to the details. (R. pp. 121-122, 415-416, 506). Why is this? Because, if the brothers told the truth, Moody was justified in drawing his gun.

According to other witnesses' testimony, such as Regan Mott (R. pp. 397-399), Tyree Porter (R. pp. 427-428), and Tyquan Porter (R. pp. 434, 441), they were in the house and were not outside to hear the exchange of words in the seconds prior to Moody drawing his gun. Durant testified that she was outside nearby but says she was not paying attention and did not see Moody point the gun at the brothers at all. (R. p. 466, lines 7-13). Again, why is this? Because, if

Durant told the truth about what she really heard and what she really saw, Moody was justified in drawing his gun.

For these reasons, effective cross-examination of Jermichael and Durant, two of the only three witnesses who were in a position to see and hear those moments, was absolutely essential during trial. However, it was not allowed. This prohibition gutted the defense of the case and violated Moody's right to confront his witnesses.

I. REFUSAL TO ALLOW MEANINGFUL CROSS-EXAMINATION OF ALLEGED VICTIM JERMICHAEL WRIGHT WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR

The trial court's refusal to allow any cross-examination regarding Jermichael Wright's arrest for Assault and Battery and his subsequent pretrial diversion deal with the State of South Carolina prior to testifying in this case violated Moody's rights under the Confrontation Clause of the United States Constitution and constituted reversible error. The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment guarantees the right of an accused in a criminal prosecution to be confronted with the witnesses against him. *See State v. Turner*, 373 S.C. 121, 130, 644 S.E.2d 693 (2007). A defendant's right to confront and cross-examine witnesses is "among the minimum essentials of a fair trial." *See Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 294-95 (1973). The right of confrontation "means more than being allowed to confront the witness physically." *Davis v. Alaska*, 415 U.S. 308, 315 (1974). Indeed, "[t]he main and essential purpose of confrontation

is to secure for the opponent the opportunity of cross-examination.” *Id.* at 316. Through cross-examination, a defendant has the opportunity to discredit the witness's motivations by “revealing possible biases, prejudices or ulterior motives.” *Id.*

The standard of review for the admissibility of evidence is abuse of discretion. *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 121, 551 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2001).

Under Rule 608(c), “Bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced.” This subsection of Rule 608 preserves South Carolina precedent holding that generally, “anything having a legitimate tendency to throw light on the accuracy, truthfulness, and sincerity of a witness may be shown and considered in determining the credit to be accorded his testimony.” *State v. Brewington*, 267 S.C. 97, 226 S.E.2d 249 (1976) (citing 98 C.J.S. Witnesses § 460).

In *State v. Jones*, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001), our Supreme Court found that the trial judge committed reversible error under 608(c) in refusing to allow cross-examination regarding a prosecution witness’ prior dismissed conduct in order to attempt to expose the witness’ bias and prejudice in an unrelated case. The Court found that the excluded evidence had “a legitimate tendency to throw light on the accuracy, truthfulness, and sincerity” of the witness’ testimony.

The *Jones* Court distinguished *State v. Aleksey*, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000), stating “[i]n *State v. Aleksey*, *supra*, the defendant sought to impeach

an eyewitness about specific charges which had been dismissed against her in New Jersey...Obviously, there was no connection between the prosecutor's office in New Jersey which had dismissed the charges and the solicitor's office [in South Carolina] which was prosecuting the defendant.”

Similarly, in *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 679 (1986), the Supreme Court found that by prohibiting all inquiry into the possibility that a witness would be biased as a result of the State's dismissal of a pending public drunkenness charge, the trial court violated the defendant's rights secured by the Confrontation Clause. The Court reasoned that had the trial court not cut off all questioning about an event that the State conceded had taken place, a jury might reasonably have found that such furnished the witness a motive for favoring the prosecution in his testimony. *Id.* See also *State v. Sotomayor*, 2007 WL 3239142, (N.J.Super.A.D. 2007) (trial court committed reversible error and violated the defendant's right to confront witnesses against him when it ruled that defense counsel could not ask state witness about charges being dismissed unless counsel could establish that dismissal was result of agreement to testify); *Carroll v. State*, 916 S.W.2d 494 (Crim. App. Tex. 1996) (prohibiting defendant from cross-examining state's witness concerning pending criminal charges violated defendant's right to confront the witnesses against him); *Greene v. Wainwright*, 634 F.2d 272 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1981) (if a prosecution witness is presently or recently under actual or threatened criminal charges or investigation leading to such charges, the person against whom the witness testifies in a criminal case has an absolute right

to bring those circumstances out on cross-examination or otherwise so that the jury will be fully apprised as to the witness' possible motive or self-interest with respect to the testimony he or she gives); *State v. Spano*, 69 N.J. 231, 234-35 (1976) (reversing trial court ruling that precluded the defense from cross-examining a State's witness about her arrest for drug possession and her admission into conditional discharge program. The Court reasoned that "the conditional dismissal of the criminal charge ... could have motivated her to testify in support of the State's case.")

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