STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

FEB 18 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2014-001391

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

DAMON ELLIS MOODY

.....APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Interim Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

EDGAR L. CLEMENTS
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit

180 N. Irby St.
Florence, South Carolina 29501
(843) 665-3091

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY

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

However, Appellant fails to recognize that the South Carolina Supreme Court placed significant weight on the number of negotiations the witness in Jones made with the "office prosecuting the charges." Id. ("Appellant's attorney pointed out that he intended to emphasize the past deals Brown had made with the *Lexington County Solicitor's office*, the same office that would decide Brown's fate in this current case."). In this case, the Twelfth Circuit solicitor's office requested that the Attorney General take over this prosecution early in the investigation. Appellant's reliance upon Jones is therefore inapposite because Mr. Wright never made a deal with the Attorney General's

office for anything. R. 255-256. Therefore, the trial court properly declined to allow Appellant to cross-examine Mr. Wright about his alleged criminal history.

Moreover, no prejudice is shown and any error in the exclusion of the evidence is harmless. See Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U. S. at 684 (stating that “the constitutionally improper denial of a defendant’s opportunity to impeach a witness for bias, like other Confrontation Clause errors, is subject to Chapman, harmless-error analysis”); see also State v. Whatley, 407 S.C. 460, 468 – 69, 756 S.E.2d 393, 397 (Ct. App. 2014)(stating that a violation of the Confrontation Clause is subject to a harmless error analysis and whether error is harmless depends on a number of factors, including the importance of the witnesses’ testimony in the State’s case, whether the testimony is cumulative, the presence of corroborating or contradictory testimony of the witness on significant points, the extent of cross-examination conducted by the defendant, and the strength of the State’s case.); State v. McEachern, 399 S.C. 125, 731 S.E.2d 604 (Ct. App. 2012)(stating that a violation of the Confrontation Clause is subject to harmless error analysis). The prosecution in this case presented fourteen witnesses, including three victims and other eye-witnesses. These witnesses who were present at the scene corroborated Jermichael Wright’s testimony. As such, Jermichael’s testimony was cumulative to and corroborated by other witnesses as set forth in the Respondent’s Statement of Facts herein. State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 731 S.E.2d 880 (2012). Appellant was not otherwise restricted in his cross-examination and thoroughly examined all of the witnesses present at the scene, including Jermichael Wright, regarding the incident and statements given contemporaneous with the incident. Moreover, through Appellant’s admissions at trial, it is uncontested that Appellant charged onto the porch of

Ms. Durant, confronted Ms. Durant's invited guests on Ms. Durant's porch, and initiated the physical altercation that occurred with the guests initially on Ms. Durant's porch and, later, around the skirt of Ms. Durant's swimming pool. It is also uncontested that Appellant thereafter retreated into his home where he retrieved a pistol and his trained attack dog and returned to Ms. Durant's porch a few minutes later where he pulled the pistol from his pocket and pointed it with a laser beam at the victims. This testimony alone supports the charge. Considering the overwhelming evidence of guilt and the failure to make a specific offer of proof, the trial judge's ruling, if error, harmless and not prejudicial." State v. McFarland, 279 S.C. 327, 331, 306 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1983).

II.

The trial court properly limited the cross-examination of Tabitha Durant about charges which occurred after the events giving rise to Appellant's conviction and which were dismissed by other authorities prior to Appellant's trial.

Appellant argues that the trial court's refusal to allow cross-examination of the Tabitha Durant regarding a post-incident arrest for breach of trust and conspiracy on December 16, 2013, violated Appellant's rights under the Confrontation Clause. R. p. 254- 259; 269- 273. The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument is without merit.

Appellant asserts that he should have had the opportunity to cross-examine Ms. Durant about her charges pursuant to Rules 608(b) and 608(c), SCRE. Under Rule 608(b), specific instances of conduct may, "if probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness, be inquired into on cross-examination of the witness (1) concerning the witness' character for truthfulness or untruthfulness." Under Rule 608(c), "[b]ias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence adduced." As with the admission of any testimony, a trial judge's ruling concerning the scope of cross-examination should not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Lynn, 277 S.C. 222, 284 S.E.2d 786 (1981).

Testimony was elicited by Appellant from Ms. Durant on cross-examination during the pretrial immunity hearing respecting possible criminal charges. R. p. 172. Ms. Durant denied that she filed a false insurance claim, stating that the insurance is in her husband's name. R. p. 172. She conceded she was initially charged with breach of trust with fraudulent intent but that charge was dismissed and a conspiracy charge was

substituted. R. p. 173. She stated that she turned herself in in December 2013, and completed a pretrial intervention (PTI) program in February 2014 before Appellant's trial on June 16 – 19, 2014, to resolve the conspiracy charge. She stated that the records for both can be expunged. R. pp. 173; 174; 269-270;. She also stated that she had never been in trouble before or participated in pretrial intervention prior to the conspiracy charge. R. 176. The trial court, during pretrial rulings, declined to allow the matter to be explored by Appellant on cross-examination. When Durant testified at trial, Appellant did not renew her request or make an additional proffer. R. pp. 433-452.

Appellant makes a conclusory statement that Ms. Durant's charges, not her conduct, had a bearing on her character for truthfulness. The conduct leading to the charge occurred after the incident with Appellant and after Durant provided a statement to officers about the incident involving Appellant. It appears this later matter related to actions by Ms. Durant's husband. In December 2013, Ms. Durant notified officers, and on February 3, 2014, it appears the breach of trust charge was dismissed and a conspiracy charge was substituted because her husband "told [her] what he had done." R. 173. Ms. Durant entered into a PTI program with the Twelfth Circuit Solicitor's office in February 2014, and her charges were dismissed following her successful completion of the program before Appellant's case was called for trial.²

² Appellant argued before the trial court that the Attorney General's office intentionally waited until after Ms. Durant's PTI was complete before calling this case for trial. She argued "it is so much worse, in my opinion, to get pre-trial and a dismissal than for those charges to be pending. If those charges are pending, then its arguably not preferential treatment." R. 254. The Attorney General responded by notifying the court that originally, the case was to be tried in May, 2014, but Appellant's attorney filed "a motion for continuance based on a federal conflict in which she complains that it's too soon to be called." R. 258. Furthermore, the fact that Ms. Durant's charges were already dismissed prior to her testimony is further evidence that her testimony was not influenced by the

Ms. Durant's charge for criminal conspiracy does not fall within a category of misconduct which is "clearly probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness" such as forgery, bribery, false pretenses, and embezzlement." See notes to Rule 608, SCRE. While the underlying facts pertaining to Ms. Durant's charge for conspiracy have a significant impact on Ms. Durant's husband's character for truthfulness or untruthfulness, it has very little probative value when it comes to Ms. Durant. No evidence was presented that Ms. Durant was an active participant in any insurance matter. Instead, Ms. Durant testified that she was arrested because of her husband told her what he had done and about which Durant was forthcoming with authorities. This alleged specific instance of misconduct is not "clearly probative" of anything about Ms. Durant's character for truthfulness.

Furthermore, as recognized by the trial court, the events leading up to Ms. Durant's arrest occurred after her initial statement to police about the incident involving Appellant. While the rule does not specifically require the court to limit cross-examination to acts that occurred before the incident underlying the prosecution, the trial court found that the probative value of Ms. Durant's criminal charges was extremely low given that "the Court has heard nothing, nor is there any evidence before this Court, that [Ms. Durant's] testimony [during the pre-trial hearing] was in any essence any different than what [her] statements were to law enforcement in June of 2013." R. 260.

The discussion by this Court in State v. Joseph is instructive. 328 S.C. 352, 491 S.E.2d 275 (Ct. App. 1997). In Joseph, this Court highlighted the difficulty with allowing cross-examination of the underlying acts related to a dismissal under the PTI statute.

Twelfth Circuit Solicitor's decision to offer her PTI. Contrary to Appellant's assertion, once a charge is dismissed, there is nothing a solicitor can do if the witness decides not to testify or to change their testimony.

“[U]pon successful completion of the PTI program, it is as if the arrest never occurred.” Id. at 359, 491 S.E.2d at 278. This Court recognized that the PTI statute does not give that same protection to the conduct giving rise to the arrest, however, the PTI Act’s expungement and confidentiality provisions “reflect a legislative policy decision that, under certain circumstances, the interests of justice require that an offender be given a fresh start, free from the stigma of a criminal conviction. Id. at 359, 491 S.E.2d at 279. The Court then recognized that “[t]o protect the arrest but not the conduct from inquiry for impeachment purposes may be inconsistent with the policies underlying the Act.” Id. at 359-60, 491 S.E.2d at 279. The Court, however, declined to decide whether the conduct underlying a charge dismissed pursuant to the PTI statute is protected under the Act because it was not properly preserved. The State asserts that the conduct giving rise to Ms. Durant’s conspiracy charge should be protected by the Act, and the trial court properly declined to allow cross-examination on that issue.

With regard to Rule 608(c), Appellant again argues that Ms. Durant’s favorable treatment by the State was proper impeachment as it showed bias toward the State as well as a bias against Appellant. However, Ms. Durant’s breach of trust charge arose after and was dismissed months before Appellant’s trial, her criminal conspiracy charge was disposed of through pretrial intervention, also prior to trial, and, as noted above, her statements did not change between the date of the incident and the date of trial.

Like Mr. Wright, Ms. Durant was charged, and her case was handled by the Twelfth Circuit Solicitor, not the Attorney General’s Office. It also appears that the conspiracy matter was investigated by the Florence County Sheriff’s Office and not SLED. Moreover, Ms. Durant’s charges were already dismissed prior to her testimony

against Appellant. There was absolutely no way in which any bias would favor the Attorney General's Office or SLED so as to influence Ms. Durant's testimony at Appellant's trial. Instead, Appellant simply resorts to mere speculation that Ms. Durant's testimony, which did not change from the time she witnessed the events, through her arrest, to the day of trial, was the product of bias based upon the State's influence over her conspiracy charge. The trial court properly limited the cross-examination of Ms. Durant where no evidence was presented in the pretrial hearing to establish any probative value to that line of questioning.

Appellant further argues that Ms. Durant was biased against him because Appellant recorded Ms. Durant and produced that recording to police, eventually leading to Ms. Durant's arrest.³ The trial court ruled Appellant could cross-examine Ms. Durant about the recorded conversations if the State elicited testimony about Ms. Durant's interactions with Appellant after the date of her arrest, since presumably that is the date on which the alleged bias would have begun. R. 371-372. The State ultimately did not do so.

The trial court properly declined to allow Appellant to cross-examine Ms. Durant about bias against Appellant with regards to statements she made before the alleged recording occurred. Accepting Appellant's counsel's argument that Ms. Durant harbored a bias against Appellant, that bias could not have arisen until Ms. Durant found out that Appellant allegedly recorded her and turned that information over to the police. While

³ It is important to note that no testimony was ever presented to corroborate Appellant's claim. Instead, Appellant's trial counsel simply notified the court that "[i]t's come to my attention—and I didn't know this until yesterday—that when Tabitha Durant was charged with insurance fraud, the way the way that the police officers learned about the insurance fraud is because my client recorded a conversation—two conversations with her wherein she admitted it." R. 269-270.

there is no indication in the record as to when or if Ms. Durant ever was aware of Appellant's recordings, the earliest that she would have been aware of their existence is after her arrest in October 2013. Therefore, the statements Ms. Durant gave to SLED following the incident in June were not tainted by any alleged bias. Since the trial court found that Ms. Durant's testimony was consistent with her statement to police the day of the incident, the trial court properly restricted counsel's cross-examination of the witness because there was no evidence that Ms. Durant's testimony was the product of bias.

Finally, even if the trial court improperly limited Appellant's right to cross-examine Ms. Durant regarding the circumstances surrounding her arrest, the trial court's ruling resulted in harmless error because the thrust of Ms. Durant's testimony was in regard to the pointing and presenting charge respecting victim Ontario, and Appellant was acquitted of that charge. R. 669.

A finding of error in limiting cross examination does not require reversal. State v. Pradubsri, 403 S.C. 270, 280, 743 S.E.2d 98, 104 (Ct. App. 2013). "An error is not reversible unless it is material and prejudicial to the substantial rights of the appellant." Id. (quoting State v. Lee-Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 414, 649 S.E.2d 41, 55 (Ct. App. 2007)). "A violation of the confrontation clause is not *per se* reversible but is subject to a harmless error analysis." State v. Clark, 315 S.C. 478, 481, 445 S.E.2d 633, 634 (1994).

Whether such an error is harmless in a particular case depends upon a host of factors. . . . The factors include the importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecutor's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and, of course, the overall strength of the prosecution's case.

Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 684 (1986).

Ms. Durant testified that she witnessed Appellant shooting into the ground. She then testified that she witnessed Appellant come onto her porch and begin “chest bumping” and arguing with her guests, Jermaine and Jermichael Wright. She did not witness Appellant point the gun at Jermaine and Jermichael, but that she saw Appellant point the gun at Ontario. R. 465. All of Ms. Durant’s testimony is cumulative to or corroborates the testimony of other witnesses present at the scene. Further, Ms. Durant was subjected to extensive cross-examination by Appellant. Given the circumstances surrounding Ms. Durant’s testimony, any error in limiting cross-examination was harmless.

III.

The trial court properly limited the cross-examination of Tabitha Durant about alleged mental health matters where Appellant failed to establish that Ms. Durant's mental health impacted her ability to comprehend and correctly relate the truth.

Appellant argues that the trial court's refusal to allow cross-examination of Tabitha Durant about her voluntary admission to a mental health treatment facility following the events giving rise to Appellant's conviction was in error. The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument is without merit.

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